IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT S.C. No. 21-0909 Polk County No. LACL148061

JASON CARTER, Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF IOWA, MARK D. LUDWICK, Special Agent of the Iowa Dept. of Public Safety, and MARK D. LUDWICK, in his Individual Capacity, Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HON. WILLIAM P. KELLY

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.901(6)

Alison F. Kanne AT0013262 Christine E. Branstad AT0001125

Nathan A. Olson AT0011403

BRANSTAD & OLSON

2501 Grand Ave. Suite A

Telephone: 515/224-9595

Des Moines, IA 50312

WANDRO & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

2501 Grand Ave., Suite B Des Moines, Iowa 50312 Telephone: 515/281-1475

Facsimile: 515/281-1474

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

ISSUE I: THE STATE IS NOT IMMUNE WHEN AN AGENT LIES, HIDES EVIDENCE, MISREPRESENTS WITNESS STATEMENTS IN REPORTS, MISREPRESENTS EVIDENCE, INTIMIDATES WITNESSES, AND REPEATEDLY FAILS TO FOLLOW CLEAR IMPORTANT LEADS.

State Authorities:

Iowa Constitution

Iowa Const. Article XII, § 1

Iowa Const. Article XII, § 8

Iowa Const. Article XII, § 9

Iowa Supreme Court

Ackerman v. State, 913 N.W.2d 610 (Iowa 2018)

Atwood v. Vilsack, 725 N.W.2d 641 (Iowa 2006)

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

Beck v. Phillips, 685 N.W.2d 637 (Iowa 2004)

Breese v. City of Burlington, 945 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa 2020)

Girard v. Anderson, 257 N.W. 400 (Iowa 1934)

Godfrey v. State, 878 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

Hike v. Hall, 427 N.W.2d 158 (1988)

Krehbiel v. Henkle, 121 N.W. 378 (Iowa 1909)

Madden v. City of Iowa City, 848 N.W.2d 40 (Iowa 2014)

McClurg v. Brenton, 98 N.W. 881 (Iowa 1904)

McGill v. Fish, 790 N.W.2d 113 (Iowa 2010)

Minor v. State, 819 N.W.2d 383 (Iowa 2012)

Muzingo v. St. Luke's Hosp., 518 N.W.2d 776 (Iowa 1994)

Nguyen v. State, 878 N.W.2d 744 (Iowa 2016)

Pierce v. Green, 294 N.W. 237 (Iowa 1940)

Rieff v. Evans, 630 N.W.2d 278 (Iowa 2001)

Southard v. Visa U.S.A. Inc., 734 N.W.2d 192 (Iowa 2007)

Schriner v. Scoville, 410 N.W.2d 679 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Brown, 930 N.W.2d 840 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Pettijohn, 899 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Spier, 173 N.W.2d 854 (Iowa 1970)

State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Tonn, 191 N.W. 530, 535 (Iowa 1923)

Trobaugh v. Sondag, 668 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 2003)

U.S. Bank v. Barbour, 770 N.W.2d 350 (Iowa 2009)

Venckus v. City of Iowa City, 930 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2019)

Weizberg v. City of Des Moines, 923 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Court of Appeals

Lennette v. State, 924 N.W.2d 878, 2018 WL 6120049 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018)

Federal Authorities:

U.S. Supreme Court

Burns v. Reed, 500 U.S. 478 (1991)

County of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833 (1988)

Daniels v. Williams, 474 U.S. 327 (1986)

Davis v. Passman, 442 U.S. 228 (1978)

Forrester v. White, 484 U.S. 219 (1988)

Kalina v. Fletcher, 522 U.S. 118 (1997)

Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335 (1986)

Rehberg v. Paulk, 566 U.S. 356 (2012)

4th Circuit

Sevigny v. Dicksey, 846 F.2d 953 (4th Cir. 1988)

7th Circuit

Bell v. City of Milwaukee, 746 F.3d 1205 (7th Cir. 1984)

BeVier v. Hucal, 806 F.2d 123 (7th Cir. 1986)

Rossi v. City of Chicago, 790 F.3d 729 (7th Cir. 2015)

8th Circuit

Johnson v. McCarver, 942 F.3d 405 (8th Cir. 2019)

Kuehl v. Burtis, 173 F.3d 646 (8th Cir. 1999)

Neal v. St. Louis Cnty. Bd. of Police Commissioners, 217 F.3d 955 (8th

Cir. 2000)

Ulrich v. Pope County, 715 F.3d 1054 (8th Cir. 2013)

Wilson v. Lawrence County, 260 F.3d 946 (8th Cir. 2001)

Zakrzewski v. Fox, 87 F.3d 1011 (8th Cir. 1996)

Treatises:

72 Am. Jur. 2d. States, Etc. § 122

ISSUE II: THE DISTRICT COURT INAPPROPRIATELY WEIGHED MERITS OF CLAIMS AND DEFENSES p.THE MOTION TO DISMISS STAGE - CHAPTER 669 IMMUNITIES DO NOT APPLY TO IOWA CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS

State Authorities:

Iowa Supreme Court

Ackerman v. State, 913 N.W.2d 610 (Iowa 2018)

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 915 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2018)

Breese v. City of Burlington, 945 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa 2020)

Madden v. City of Iowa City, 848 N.W.2d 40 (Iowa 2014)

McGill v. Fish, 790 N.W.2d 113 (Iowa 2010)

Rieff v. Evans, 630 N.W.2d 278 (Iowa 2001)

Schriner v. Scoville, 410 N.W.2d 679 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Spier, 173 N.W.2d 854 (Iowa 1970)

U.S. Bank v. Barbour, 770 N.W.2d 350 (Iowa 2009)

Weizberg v. City of Des Moines, 923 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Court of Appeals

Lennette v. State, 924 N.W.2d 878, 2018 WL 6120049 (Iowa Ct. App.

2018)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Jason Carter ("Carter") requests this case be *transferred to the court of appeals* because it presents questions regarding application of existing legal principles. IA R. APP. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Beginning June 19, 2015, the day Shirley Carter was killed, DCI Agent Mark Ludwick ("Ludwick") and those under Ludwick's supervision embarked on a smear campaign against Jason Carter with intent to separate Carter from family and from community and with intent to force criminal prosecution. Sunshine is a powerful disinfectant. It illuminates a campaign in which Ludwick lied, hid evidence, misrepresented witness statements in written reports, misrepresented evidence in reports, intimidated witnesses, misled witnesses, and many times over failed to follow clear important leads. Ludwick directed those he supervised to follow his example and even removed a top law enforcement officer from the case for disagreeing with his unsupported theories.

Ludwick convinced Bill Carter, Jason's father, to file a civil suit against Jason with the express purpose of promoting criminal prosecution. Ludwick worked directly with Bill Carter, sharing evidence, planning civil discovery

including deposition questions, and disclosing tailored information from the protected DCI file to unfairly inculpate Jason. Ludwick despicably knew the selected information was misleading and was contrary to verified exculpatory evidence. Based on Ludwick's promotion of the civil suit, Jason was found civilly liable and was denied a genuine 'day in court'.

Shortly after the civil verdict, an arrest warrant issued based on an affidavit based on material omissions, misstatements, and subjective unsupported conclusions. Through the criminal process, Jason learned of Ludwick's misdeeds, investigation failures, lies, and manipulation of Jason's family and of witnesses who attempted to identify Shirley's true killers. With evidence, Jason's criminal jury exonerated him in under two hours.

Based on Ludwick's grievous acts, Jason filed suit, alleging violations of his constitutional rights and of his statutory rights. The district court dismissed Jason's Petition based on immunities. Jason appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mark Ludwick was lead investigator for the Shirley Carter homicide and directed law enforcement officers. (Appx. p.6.) Before arriving at the scene, Ludwick made Jason Carter (Shirley's son) his primary suspect. (Appx p.6.) This rash conjecture and related assumptions tainted the investigation and diverted Ludwick's attention and perception throughout investigation. As a result, exculpatory evidence was discarded, destroyed, diverted, and purposefully disguised. (Appx. p.14.)

Ludwick's wrongful actions toward Jason began June 19, 2015 (before Ludwick was on the scene) and continued through the May 2019 criminal trial. Law enforcement received early statements from witnesses who heard: direct confessions, descriptions of the vehicle used, weapon location, and information about the crime that the general public did not know. (Appx. p.22; 33; 45.) As shown below, little attention was paid to evidence that did not fit early speculation by Ludwick. (Appx. p.30.)

Ludwick's bias is patent in the DCI investigation file, written reports, and law enforcement communication. Many reports do not reflect the actual substance of subject interviews; many reports omit exculpatory information. (Appx. p.16.) Ludwick directed Marion County Deputy Kious to disregard

specific exculpatory evidence. (Appx. p.6.) Ludwick misrepresented and omitted exculpatory information in reports, in interviews, and in testimony. Ludwick intimidated and lied to witnesses; Ludwick manipulated and lied to Jason's family. Ludwick did not investigate purported suspect alibis. (Appx. p.11.) Ludwick ignored evidence inculpating other suspects. During the threeplus year investigation, Ludwick never requested analysis of an unknown fingerprint on the gun safe at the homicide scene. (Appx. p.20.) Beginning summer 2015 and continuing into 2017, members of the public reported confessions and information implicating individuals who are objectively likely responsible for Shirley Carter's death. This information was in Ludwick's possession and affirmatively disproves Ludwick's sworn statements in the December 2017 arrest warrant affidavit. Ludwick knew the public could not access the DCI file while the homicide investigation was active and knew his biased actions were protected. Ignoring information for years provides underpinnings of due process violations.

Ignoring Evidence and Fabricating a Case Against Jason

In summer and fall 2015, Ludwick was frustrated (as shown in emails) because he could not convince others to bring charges against Jason. Instead of investigating existing and continuing leads, Ludwick attacked Jason by chipping away at Jason's community and family support. (Appx. p.7.) Ludwick made false statements implicating Jason to his father (Bill Carter), to Jason's siblings (Billy Jr. and Jana), and to Jason's wife Shelly Carter. (Appx. p.19.) Jason's family initially was adamant Jason could not / would not be responsible for his mother's death. (Appx. p.21.)

- To Jana (Jason's sister), Ludwick lied, stating Jason was dishonest with law enforcement, indicating there was conclusive evidence against Jason and insinuating he had proof Jason planted evidence p.the crime scene. (Appx. p.20.) The audio recording of this interaction clearly indicates Jana was persuaded by intentionally false implications. (Appx. p.20.) She left that meeting and told her father, Bill, she learned Jason planted evidence at the scene of the homicide demonstrably false. (Appx. p.20.)
- To Bill (Jason's father), Ludwick met with Bill "many, many" times, maybe 100, starting shortly after the homicide and continuing during the civil suit. (Appx. p.21.) After a particular meeting with Bill Carter,

Ludwick spoke with another law enforcement officer stating Bill is now "on board" and says, "now we got Bill[y]." (Appx. p.21.) Ludwick states his "biggest concern is that Bill[y] could flip." (Appx. p.21.) The other officer asks if Ludwick's body mic is still on; Ludwick abruptly turns off his mic. (Appx. p.21.)

- To Billy Dean (Jason's brother), Ludwick told Billy Dean that Jason stated Billy Dean was responsible for the homicide a knowingly false statement. (Appx. p.21.) Billy Dean testified the reason he believed Jason killed Shirley Carter was because of that statement by Ludwick. (Appx. p.21.)
- To Shelly Carter (Jason's wife) Ludwick repeatedly stated he knew
 Jason was guilty and she could "get on the bus" or be "under it". (Appx. p.22.)

Before Ludwick's campaign, the Carter family was supportive, and Jason was highly regard within the community. Ludwick's false statements to the family did bear (rotten) fruit when he persuaded Bill Carter to take action to assist Ludwick. On January 5, 2016, Bill Carter filed a civil wrongful death lawsuit in Marion County naming Jason as defendant. (Appx. p.7.) During the entirety of the civil lawsuit, Ludwick manipulated the civil discovery process

to gain information and to sway public opinion. Bill Carter¹ served a subpoena to trigger a mock "negotiation" with DCI for "resolution" of the subpoena. (Appx. p.8.) Under Iowa law, DCI could have objected to disclosure, but instead entered an agreement regarding production to aid the civil case goal of propelling a criminal case. (Appx. p.8.) Despite obligation to produce received information, Bill Carter failed to disclose information from DCI to Jason. (Appx. p.8.) Jason now knows excluded discovery contained myriad exculpatory evidence, known to DCI and to Ludwick, shared with Bill Carter, and not shared with Jason. (Appx. p.48.)

Ludwick and law enforcement officers working under Ludwick were entrenched with Bill Carter. They even offered questions to ask Jason in his civil deposition and aided in crafting questions served on Jason through interrogatories and requests for production. (Appx. p.49; 51.)

DCI's and Ludwick's motive in providing misleading evidence to the Carter Family was to achieve a liability verdict and to leverage that verdict into criminal charges. (Appx. p.9.) In later-discovered emails, Ludwick referred to the 2017 civil trial as a "gift." (Appx. p.9.) Ludwick sent an email in which he stated Jason blaming Bill for the homicide, "[would] make the

¹ "Bill Carter" includes his children Jana and Bill Jr. It is evident Bill led all litigation.

criminal case against JASON easier in criminal court . . . Both sides in the civil side told the jury 'The Killer [sic] of Shirley Carter is sitting in this very courtroom.' [That's] a perfect gift for us!!!" (Appx. p.48.) Again, that is before the criminal charge was filed and before Jason knew mounds of evidence implicated Joe Sedlock and the Followills.

Despite being a sequestered witness, Ludwick was aware of who was testifying and when they were testifying during the civil trial. (Appx. p.9.) Ludwick watched some (or all) testimony from the media room. (Appx. p.9.) Ludwick provided testimony updates to other law enforcement officers. (Appx. p.9.) In one email, Ludwick wrote Jason was "on the stand now." (Appx. p.9.) Ludwick contacted media outlets to obtain videos of the civil trial testimony, again, while still under a sequestration order. (Appx. p.10.)

The Marion County Attorney authorized Jason's arrest within hours after the civil verdict. (Appx. p.10.) The following day, Ludwick signed the criminal complaint and affidavit used to request the arrest warrant. (Appx. p.10.) Ludwick intentionally provided false and misleading material information in the criminal complaint requesting the warrant. (Appx. p.10.) He omitted necessary material information from the criminal complaint. (Appx. p.10.) Ludwick was aware Jason had an alibi and was aware the timeline excluded Jason as a suspect in the homicide. (Appx. p.10.) Ludwick

claimed two motives for Jason killing his mother: (1) Jason was in financial straits; and (2) Jason was having an affair; however, at the time he wrote the criminal complaint, Ludwick knew Jason gained nothing financially from Shirley Carter's death, knew there was no evidence showing Shirley discovered Jason was having an extramarital affair, and knew from Bill Carter that Shirley would have supported her son had she learned of that affair. (Appx. p.10; 11.) Ludwick hid forensic evidence exculpating Jason from the homicide. (Appx. p.51; 55.) For example, in a 2016 email Ludwick wrote "standing in one spot" on Carter farm, his phone pinged off three towers. (Appx. p.42.) Ludwick did not provide that information even to the county attorney. Instead, he allowed the state to offer a theory in the 2019 trial that Jason's phone pinging off three towers indicated Jason left the scene to hide a gun. Additionally, Ludwick allowed Bill Carter and attorneys for the state to believe tractor log codes indicated Jason lied about starting a tractor when he arrived at Carter Farms the day of the homicide. (Appx. p.17.) Subsequent testimony showed, prior to Jason's arrest, the witness contacted Ludwick to tell him the log code information was incorrect. (Appx. p.17.) Ludwick did not write a report or inform any party the tractor codes information was wrong. (Appx. p.17.)

Even while possessing myriad statements and evidence implicating specific individuals in the homicide, Ludwick doggedly pursued Jason and refused to investigate leads pointing to specific suspects. (Appx. p.11.) In fact, Ludwick knew in 2015 that Joe Sedlock, Callie Shinn, John Followill, and Joel Followill were implicated in the homicide by numerous individuals. (Appx. p.11.) Ludwick knew individuals reported confessions and other inculpatory statements from Sedlock, Shinn, and the Followills. (Appx. p.11.) Because that information did not match his obsession, Ludwick ignored that evidence. (Appx. p.45.) Leads, tips, and community information poured into law enforcement from June 2015 until after the December 2017 civil verdict. Ludwick and DCI performed no investigation from the civil suit initiation in January 2016 through criminal deposition in summer 2018. (Appx. p.11, 48.) These failures were discovered through the criminal discovery process. (Appx. p.30.) Some of the most egregious acts and omissions were discovered just before (and during) the March 2019 criminal trial. (Appx. p.18, 42.)

For years before the criminal trial, Ludwick denied even basic knowledge of exculpatory evidence. For example, alleged homicide weapon was a .270 rifle purportedly removed from the Carter gun safe. (Appx. p.13.) There is one still unidentified fingerprint on the gun safe. (Appx. p.14.) In Jason's civil trial, Ludwick testified he was unaware of an unidentified

fingerprint on the gun safe. (Appx. p.14.) However, at the criminal trial, Ludwick testified he knew about the unidentified fingerprint at the time he testified in the civil trial but it 'slipped his mind'. (Appx. p.14.) Ludwick admitted he did not attempt to use law enforcement databases to look for matches. (Appx. p.14.) It is unknown if the questioned fingerprint was ever analyzed. (Appx. p.14.) This plainly could be evidence connecting the killer to the crime scene; in six-plus years since the homicide, Ludwick has not done the basic action of searching a law enforcement database for the fingerprint match. (Appx. p.14.)

Ludwick either intentionally hid information or was a horrendous recordkeeper. Many reports, recordings, and evidence were lost, mislabeled, or inscrutable. (Appx. p.14.) Ludwick referred to a "box" containing homicide investigation evidence. (Appx. p.14.) After agreeing to bring the box to the second day of deposition in July 2018, he forgot the "box" or any related evidence but then claimed he already provided all evidence. (Appx. p.14.) The Friday before trial, Jason's counsel went to Marion County Sheriff's Office to review physical evidence for transport to trial. (Appx. p.14.) In addition to finding physical evidence never previously identified, Jason's counsel found a box with an evidence log indicating the box contained ninety-three discs and USB drives of evidence. (Appx. p.15.) The evidence log indicated the box was

delivered by Ludwick to Marion County. (Appx. p.15.) The box only contained eighty discs and drives. (Appx. p.15.) To date, neither Ludwick nor the State can explain what happened to the thirteen missing discs and drives. (Appx. p.15.) Jason's counsel was at the Marion County Sheriff's Office ("MCSO") for 10.5 hours just three days before trial, downloading this "new" evidence. (Appx. p.15.) It should be noted, the defense repeatedly requested missing audio files throughout discovery. (Appx. p.15.) Some audio files were obtained. (Appx. p.15.) Some were in this box. Many were never provided. (Appx. p.15.) Shockingly, disclosure of Ludwick's emails by court order (received during the criminal trial) revealed Ludwick sent an email to a coworker regarding the missing audio files in which he stated: "The missing audio files are causing me problems...I'm working on them, but we might need to say 'maintained by MCSO' if I can't get them to copy over." (Appx. p.15.) Ludwick intentionally hid undisclosed evidence in a mislabeled box in an evidence room. Ludwick never told counsel the files were "maintained by MCSO". The box was only discovered when counsel was reviewing physical evidence.

Ludwick and those under his direction wrote and submitted reports which were false, inaccurate, and incomplete. (Appx. p.16.) For example:

- Curt Seddon testified in the civil trial and in the criminal trial that Jason Carter made a statement indicating there were "two holes" at the crime scene (purportedly showing premature knowledge of how many times Shirley Carter was shot). (Appx. p.18.) Ludwick had undisclosed notes from September 2015 showing Seddon heard both Jason Carter and Bill Carter make the "two holes" statement. (Appx. p.18.) (The notes were found in Ludwick's emails again received during trial, provided pursuant to court order to compel disclosure). (Appx. p.18.)
- Brian Titus was contacted by Ludwick to address whether log codes would show a tractor was run at a certain time. (Appx. p.17.) Titus originally told Ludwick certain codes would indicate the tractor had run. (Appx. p.17.) When Titus realized he was wrong, he contacted Ludwick prior to charges being filed to update the information. (Appx. p.17.) Ludwick never updated his written report or the DCI file, and the State relied on incorrect information in charging Jason. (Appx. p.17.)
- Ludwick's report of an interview with Rex DeMoss indicates DeMoss described Jason as a "hothead." (Appx. p.16.) Rex DeMoss testified he never described Jason as a hothead, and he did not believe Jason to be a hothead. (Appx. p.16.)

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