#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

## No. 21-0909 Polk County No. LACL148061

#### JASON CARTER,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF IOWA, MARK D. LUDWICK, Special Agent of Iowa Department of Public Safety, and MARK D. LUDWICK, in his individual capacity,

Defendants-Appellees.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE WILLIAM P. KELLY, JUDGE

#### APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA

JEFFREY C. PETERZALEK TESSA M. REGISTER Assistant Attorneys General Iowa Department of Justice 1305 East Walnut Street, 2nd Fl. Des Moines, Iowa 50319

Phone: 515-281-4213

Email: Jeffrey.Peterzalek@ag.iowa.gov Email: Tessa.Register@ag.iowa.gov

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

his rights under article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution and the district court properly dismissed Count I.

### D. The State is qualifiedly immune from claims arising out of false arrest.

Finally, the district court also held that Count I must be dismissed because the State was entitled to all-due-care qualified immunity. Jason asserts that (1) all-due-care immunity cannot be resolved through a motion to dismiss, and (2) even if it could, his Petition precludes such a ruling at this stage. Jason is incorrect on both points.

1. All-due-care immunity, generally. In Baldwin I, this Court announced that defendants, which includes both officers and their government employers, are entitled to immunity from *Godfrey*-type claims if they "exercised all due care to comply with the law." 915 N.W.2d at 280. Although the Court has not yet elaborated on how the immunity operates, a number of guiding principles can be readily established.

First, it is well settled that an Iowa officer cannot be held liable in tort for a negligent investigation, and thus an officer cannot be stripped of all-due-care immunity based on a merely negligent investigation. *See Smith v. State*, 324 N.W.2d 299, 301 (Iowa 1982) (en banc) (declining to recognize common law tort claim for negligent law enforcement investigation). The *Smith* court emphasized that, "to assure continued vigorous police work, those charged

with that duty should not be liable for mere negligence." *Id.* Because "constitutional torts are torts," *Baldwin I*, 915 N.W.2d at 265, and officers are not liable in tort for merely negligent investigations, it would be entirely incongruent to find that officers cannot be sued for the tort of negligent investigation while also allowing officers to be held liable in tort for negligent investigations. Qualified immunity therefore cannot be lost based on allegations of mere negligence for claims based on the adequacy of law enforcement investigations.

Second, all-due-care immunity can be decided at the motion-to-dismiss stage. Qualified immunity is "immunity from suit, rather than a mere defense to liability; and like an absolute immunity, it is effectively lost if the case is erroneously permitted to go to trial." Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 526 (1985). Immunity must be decided "by the court long before trial" to preserve a defendant's right to avoid the burdens of litigation. Hunter v. Bryant, 502 U.S. 224, 228 (1991) (per curiam). See also Nelson v. Lindaman, 867 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2015) (finding Iowa Code section 232.73 offers a type of "qualified immunity" and explaining "[q]ualified immunity is a question of law for the court") (quoting Dickerson v. Mertz, 547 N.W.2d 208, 215 (Iowa 1996)).

Moreover, in *Baldwin I*, the Court described all-due-care immunity as an "affirmative defense" that must be "plead[ed]" by the defendants. 915

N.W.2d at 279. Federal qualified immunity is described in precisely the same terms and is universally litigated and resolved at the motion-to-dismiss stage. *See Dickerson*, 547 N.W.2d at 214 ("[Federal] qualified immunity is an affirmative defense which the defendant official must plead."). Finally, the legislature recently enacted an additional statutory immunity, instructing that such qualified immunity is resolvable at the pleading stage and adverse decisions are immediately appealable. *See* Iowa Code § 669.14A. This statute confirms the legislature intends for qualified immunity determinations to be made as early as possible to dispose of insubstantial claims prior to engaging in costly discovery and litigation at taxpayer expense. Thus, the question of immunity for *Godfrey*-type claims can be raised and resolved at the motion-to-dismiss stage.

Third, qualified immunity is a purely objective inquiry. Should the court introduce a subjective component to qualified immunity, it would inflict "special costs" on governments and their officers. *See Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800, 816 (1982). "Judicial inquiry into subjective motivation . . . entail[s] broad-ranging discovery and the deposing of numerous persons, including an official's professional colleagues. Inquiries of this kind can be peculiarly disruptive of effective government." *Id.* at 817. If all-due-care immunity contained a subjective component, and thereby "inherently

require[ed] resolution by a jury," the right to immunity from suit would be little more than words on a page. "Objective legal reasonableness" must be the polestar. *Id.* at 819.

While the United States Supreme Court chose to measure reasonableness by the degree to which the underlying constitutional law was settled at the time of the infringement, the Iowa Supreme Court chose to measure reasonableness by the steps a reasonable officer would take to conform to the requirements of the law. *Baldwin I*, 915 N.W.2d at 279–81. In deviating from the Supreme Court's *measure* of reasonableness, however, the court in no way deviated from the doctrine's fundamental purposes—to promptly resolve lawsuits and promote the unflinching discharge of lawful duties. All-due-care immunity, therefore, is an objective standard properly resolved by the court at the earliest possible stage of litigation.

Fourth, although the Court declined to comprehensively adopt the federal *Harlow* standard, all-due-care immunity necessarily contemplates the degree to which the law was settled at the time of the alleged misconduct. In adopting the new standard, the Court explained that *Harlow* "in some ways resembles an immunity for officers who act with due care." *Id.* at 279. Further, if it was unclear at the time of action whether an officer's conduct offended the constitution, and the plaintiff's injury therefore stemmed from an officer's

"failure to predict the course of [the court's] constitutional jurisprudence," then the officer's conduct was clearly not unreasonable. *Monell v. Dep't of Social Servs. of City of New York*, 436 U.S. 658, 717 (1978) (Rehnquist, J., dissenting). And if an officer acted contrary to clear, well-settled law, such evidence would likely support a finding that the officer failed to exercise adequate care.

Finally, "the right to recover damages for a constitutional violation does not need to be congruent with the constitutional violation itself." Baldwin I, 915 N.W.2d at 278. This means that although a constitutional violation could result in evidence being excluded from a criminal trial, that same violation does not necessarily require the availability of a damages claim against the officer. For example, an Iowa officer's good-faith reliance on a warrant cannot cure an unconstitutional search, and the exclusionary rule applies despite any reasonable reliance on a warrant. State v. Prior, 617 N.W.2d 260, 268 (Iowa 2000). However, the principles animating the exclusionary rule are distinct from those animating the qualified immunity doctrine. Even if reasonable reliance on a warrant does not alleviate a constitutional violation, a court may still find that tort damages for that violation are inappropriate against an officer who reasonably relied on a judge's probable-cause determination.

In *Prior*, the Court found that "the integrity of the judicial process and an individuals' rights under our state constitution" required applying the exclusionary rule, regardless of the lack of bad faith by the officers involved. Id. at 268. Yet, in practice, "officer[s] cannot be expected to question the magistrate's probable-cause determination or his judgment that the form of the warrant is technically sufficient." *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 921 (1984). "[O]nce the warrant issues, there is literally nothing more the [officer] can do in seeking to comply with the law." Id. (quoting Stone v. Powell, 428 U.S. 465, 495 (1976) (Burger, C.J., concurring)) (first alteration in original). Again, when tort liability, rather than the state's ability to convict, is at issue, the culpability of the officer is the gravamen of the action. And when a neutral judge issues a warrant, this fact is often "the clearest indication that the officer acted in an objectively reasonable manner." Williams v. City of Alexander, 772 F.3d 1307, 1311 (8th Cir. 2014). Thus, a constitutional violation that gives rise to the exclusion of evidence during a criminal trial will not per se give rise to an actionable tort claim against the offending officer.

In sum, all-due-care immunity arising from an allegedly deficient law enforcement investigation (1) cannot be overcome by allegations that do not rise above negligence, (2) should be resolved at the earliest possible stage of

litigation, (3) is an objective question of law for the court, (4) contemplates the degree to which the underlying constitutional law was settled at the time of the alleged infringement, and (5) is not lost unless there is greater culpability than the mere fact of unconstitutional conduct.

2. Applying all-due-care immunity. Applying these principles, the district court correctly held that the State is qualifiedly immune from Count I. A careful review of the Petition reveals that law enforcement received tips implicating the following individuals in Shirley Carter's murder: Joel Followill, John Followill, Joseph Sedlock, Matt Kamerick, Callie Shinn, Michelle Daniels, Jason Beaman, Jeremiah Laird, Amber Shinn, Chris Brees, Kory Ford, Nichole Sedlock, Rory Pearson, Sue Dabb, Jim Dabb, Bill Carter, and Jason Carter. The Petition demonstrates the tips were based on various levels of hearsay, provided conflicting accounts of the murder, and came from a wide array of individuals who were motivated by a wide array of subjective interests. The Petition further demonstrates that Agent Ludwick and his team were actively investigating the murder, receiving tips on suspects, and making credibility determinations as to which leads were worthy of expending limited resources to investigate further. An officer does not violate the Iowa Constitution by declining to assign credibility to aspiring informants who lack first-hand knowledge of the crime.

Importantly, "law enforcement's decisions about whom to investigate and how, like a prosecutor's decision whether to prosecute, is ill suited to judicial review." *Flowers v. City of Minneapolis*, 558 F.3d 794, 798 (8th Cir. 2009). Reviewing courts "are not well-equipped to evaluate whether a particular lead warrants investigation, because that decision may depend on the strength of the information provided, an agency's enforcement priorities, and how a particular investigation relates to an overall enforcement plan." *Id.* Moreover, "judicial review of investigative decisions, like oversight of prosecutions, tends to 'chill law enforcement by subjecting the [investigator's] motives and decisionmaking to outside inquiry." *Id.* (quoting *Wayte v. United States*, 470 U.S. 598, 607 (1985)).

Here, Jason has not identified any actual exonerating evidence that was ignored, but rather speculates as to other people who could have committed the crime. Clearly, Jason believes that any tip that did not implicate him is per se exonerating. But officers cannot be said to have failed to take all due care with the law simply because they made credibility determinations that were adverse to a suspect who went on to be acquitted by a jury of his peers.

The facts and procedures of this case demonstrate that all-due-care immunity is required. Taking all facts as true, Agent Ludwick applied for a warrant and a judge determined probable cause existed to support an arrest. A

prosecutor reviewed the evidence and decided to seek a First-Degree Murder charge. After a contested preliminary hearing, another court confirmed probable cause existed to support the charges and proceeded with a trial. At the conclusion of evidence, which included a full exploration of Agent Ludwick's investigation, the judge took Jason's motion for directed verdict under advisement and sent the question of Jason's guilt to the jury. Jason was entitled to, and in fact utilized, the full panoply of constitutional procedures designed to safeguard the integrity of arrests and criminal charges. At every juncture, probable cause was found. The State must be said to have taken all due care to comply with the law and are entitled to qualified immunity for Count I.

II. Count III was properly dismissed because it is an improper collateral attack on Jason's civil judgment, the claim is barred by judicial-process immunity, the claim is barred by sovereign immunity, the State is entitled to all-due-care immunity, and the State did not violate Jason's due process rights during the civil proceeding.

Count III<sup>3</sup> alleges the State violated Jason's substantive due process rights under the Iowa Constitution by participating in the civil wrongful-death

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Counts III and IV were analyzed jointly at the district court, with good reason. Count III raises a substantive due process claim based on the State's conduct during the civil wrongful-death proceeding. (Pet. ¶¶ 457–63, App. at 54–55). Count IV is also a substantive due process claim, which appears to encompass the same civil-proceeding complaints as Count III, as well as additionally allege that the State's criminal investigation was constitutionally

proceeding, namely by providing some but not all criminal investigative information in response to the civil plaintiffs' subpoena, purportedly providing the civil plaintiffs with questions to ask Jason in his civil deposition, and otherwise "aiding in the entry of a \$10 million judgment against" Jason. (Pet. ¶ 475, App. at 56–57; Appellant Brief, at 68, 78).<sup>4</sup> The district court dismissed this claim, finding (1) it was the functional equivalent of abuse-of-process and thus barred by the State's retention of sovereign immunity within section 669.14(4); (2) the complained-of conduct falls within the judicial-process immunity; and (3) Jason failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

deficient. (Pet. ¶¶ 464–85, App. at 55–56). Because of the overlap between counts, the State will use Count III to assess the viability of Jason's substantive due process claim based on the civil proceeding and use Count IV to assess the viability of Jason's substantive due process claim based on the adequacy of the criminal investigation leading to his arrest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Jason also repeatedly seeks to hold Agent Ludwick liable in tort for filing and pursuing criminal murder charges against him, as well as alleges Ludwick "leverage[d] [the civil] verdict into criminal charges." (Appellant Brief at 20, 68; Pet. ¶¶ 48, 499, 502, 505, 535, 539, 546, 547, 554; App. at 9, 60, 65, 67, 68). Of course, it is a prosecutor, not a law enforcement officer, who decides which criminal charges to bring and when. Even if the acts of filing and pursuing criminal charges could be assignable to Agent Ludwick, which they cannot, such conduct is absolutely immune from tort liability under the judicial-process immunity recognized in *Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792, 803 (Iowa 2019). And Jason's wrongful-death verdict is not mentioned anywhere in Agent Ludwick's affidavit giving rise to Jason's arrest. (App. at 74).

As discussed above, section 669.14(4) applies to Jason's constitutional tort claim, and Count III is plainly an abuse-of-process tort against the State. Thus, the district court correctly dismissed Count III for want of jurisdiction. The district court's remaining bases for dismissal are similarly well supported, and each will be discussed in turn, as well as an additional basis urged before, but not decided by, the district court.

## A. Count III is an improper collateral attack on Jason's \$10 million civil judgment.

As a threshold matter, the State urged to the district court, which did not reach the issue, that Count III is an improper collateral attack on Jason's \$10 million civil wrongful-death judgment. According to Jason, but for the DCI's failure to produce the entire file during the civil proceeding and Agent Ludwick's cooperation with the civil plaintiffs, he would not have been found civilly liable for the death of his mother. But this is the wrong forum to litigate the deficiencies and errors of the civil wrongful-death proceeding.

"[A] final judgment is conclusive on collateral attack, even if the judgment was erroneous, unless the court that entered the judgment lacked jurisdiction over the person or subject matter." *Schott v. Schott*, 744 N.W.2d 85, 88 (Iowa 2008). Here, all of Jason's allegations regarding the civil case were either litigated during the actual civil proceeding or the subsequent motions to vacate the civil judgment. For example, Jason emphatically argues

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